22-cv-0599

In the District of Columbia Court of Appeals

JEROME STIEBER,

Clerk of the Court Received 02/14/2023 02:28 PM Resubmitted 02/14/2023 03:32 PM Resubmitted 02/14/2023 04:16 PM Filed 02/14/2023 04:16 PM

Appellant

v.

BURCHELL & HUGHES, PLLC, et al.,

Appellees

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia (Civil Division)
(Hon. Maurice Ross)

Brief of Appellant Jerome Stieber

Amy Leete Leone #456485
Richard W. Evans #448436
Jeffrey W. Stickle #491686
McCarthy Wilson LLP
2200 Research Boulevard
Suite 500
Rockville, MD 20850
(301) 762-7770
leonea@mcwilson.com
sticklej@mcwilson.com

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Jerome Stieber filed the underlying Complaint against his former attorneys, Burchell & Hughes, PLLC, Kelly Burchell, Esquire, and Theresa Taing, Esquire¹ (collectively the "Law Firm"). The Complaint stated one cause of action for negligence/professional malpractice arising out of the Law Firm's prior legal representation of Mr. Stieber in a claim against his former employer, Cumulus Media, LLC ("Cumulus").

In response to the Complaint, the Law Firm filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim. Mr. Stieber opposed that Motion and, simultaneously, filed an Amended Complaint. The Law Firm again moved to dismiss and Mr. Stieber filed an Opposition. The Superior Court, the Honorable Maurice Ross presiding, held a motions hearing and denied the Law Firm's Motion. Days later, Judge Ross, *sua sponte*, set a second hearing, at which time he heard additional

_

¹ Defendant Taing was not served prior to the Court's dismissal.

argument from counsel. At the conclusion of that second hearing, Judge Ross granted the Law Firm's Motion and dismissed the case with prejudice. The instant appeal ensued.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Mr. Stieber Retains Counsel

Mr. Stieber, who has been diagnosed with multiple disabilities, was formerly employed by Cumulus as an account executive in the District of Columbia. (JA009) His employment was terminated in May 2017. (JA009) Shortly thereafter, he engaged counsel² to represent him in bringing claims against his former employer for discrimination and wrongful termination. (JA009)

B. Counsel Commences Legal Action

In February 2018, Mr. Stieber, through counsel, commenced an employment discrimination action in the D.C. Office of Human Rights (DCOHR). In or around late July 2019, the DCOHR issued its probable cause finding in favor of Mr. Stieber on his claims for failure to accommodate, retaliation, and disparate treatment on the basis of his age and disability, and ordered the parties to participate in conciliation. (JA012) On January 10, 2020, as a result of this conciliation process, Mr. Stieber, through counsel, entered into a Settlement

2

² Mr. Stieber initially hired Appellee Burchell, Teresa Taing, Esquire, and their prior law firm, BGM Law, PLLC. (JA009) During their representation of Mr.

Agreement with Cumulus, in which the parties agreed that the value of Mr. Stieber's claim was One Million One Hundred and Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$1,160,000.00). (JA012) Also during the conciliation process, Mr. Stieber, through counsel, and Cumulus agreed to settle his claims against Cumulus for Three Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$360,000.00), even though they had previously valued his claim for more than One Million Dollars. (JA013)

C. <u>Cumulus Bankruptcy Proceedings</u>

Meanwhile, on or about November 30, 2017, Cumulus, Mr. Stieber's former employer, filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy. (JA010) *See In re: Cumulus Media, Inc., et al., Debtors*, Case No. 17-13381 (SCC). On or about December 5, 2017, the Law Firm representing Mr. Stieber was made aware of the bankruptcy filing. (JA010) However, the Law Firm took <u>no action</u> to respond to Cumulus's bankruptcy status. (JA010) On May 10, 2018, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York issued its order approving of the reorganization plan (the "Plan") for Mr. Stieber's former employer. (JA010-11)

The Law Firm failed to file a timely Proof of Claim to protect Mr. Stieber's rights as a potential creditor. (JA010) The Law Firm further failed to make any other filing to protect Mr. Stieber's rights, such as appearing at the initial meeting of creditors, objecting to the Plan, moving for an adversary proceeding, moving to

Stieber, Mr. Burchell and Ms. Taing formed Burchell & Hughes, PLLC, through

lift the stay or moving to continue his litigation against Cumulus in order to pursue applicable insurance proceeds. (JA010-11)

Following the conclusion of the DCOHR conciliation process, counsel for Mr. Stieber filed a late proof of claim in the amount of \$1,160,000.00. (JA023) See also In Re: Cumulus Media, Case No. 17-13381-scc Doc 1232 ¶11. However, the Law Firm agreed to reduce Mr. Stieber's \$1,160,000.00 claim to \$360,000.00 in exchange for Cumulus agreeing not to challenge the late-filing of the proof of claim. (JA023). See also In Re: Cumulus Media, Case No. 17-13381-SCC Doc 1232 ¶12; ¶15. The U.S. Bankruptcy Court eventually approved the "Stipulation and Order Between Reorganized Debtor and Jerome Stieber Allowing Claim No. 1127 in a Reduced Amount, allowing the Claim in the amount of \$360,000 as a Class 6 – General Unsecured Claim (as defined in the Plan)[.]" (JA023). See also In Re: Cumulus Media, Case No. 17-13381-SCC Doc 1244.

D. Mr. Stieber's Claim is Paid in Cumulus Stock

The Bankruptcy Plan in effect when the Law Firm and Cumulus negotiated the \$360,000.00 settlement of the \$1,160,000.00 valued claim provided that General Unsecured Claims, such as Mr. Stieber's claim, were payable on a reduced pro rata basis, through the issuance of stock. *See In Re: Cumulus Media, Inc., et al.*, Case No. 17-13381 (SCC), Doc. 769 ("the Plan"). (JA014). However, Mr.

which their representation of Mr. Stieber continued. (JA010)

Stieber was not so informed, and he relied on the Law Firm's advice, including that the \$360,000.00 settlement would be a "cash payout" in that amount. (JA013) Nonetheless, in accordance with the Plan, following the negotiated agreement between the Law Firm and Cumulus, Mr. Stieber received 911 shares of Cumulus stock, worth only about Twelve Thousand Dollars (\$12,000.00). (JA013) Mr. Stieber was never advised by the Law Firm that he was settling his claim for stock valued at less than \$360,000.00. (JA013)

E. Mr. Stieber's Claim Was Covered by Insurance Policy

At the time of his wrongful termination and discrimination, Mr. Stieber's employer was an insured under an Executive Protection Portfolio Policy, No. (the "Policy" or "Insurance Policy"), with a limit of liability of Ten Million Dollars (\$10,000,000.00), which was subject to a \$350,000 per claim self-insured retention ("SIR"). (JA011) That Policy was issued to Cumulus by Federal Insurance Company t/a Chubb. (JA024) However, the Law Firm failed to take any action to recover the value of Mr. Stieber's claim through the Policy. (JA011) For example, the Law Firm never filed a motion to lift the stay to pursue a claim covered by insurance. (JA011-12) Nor did the Law Firm move to continue the litigation against Cumulus in order to pursue insurance proceeds. The Law Firm did not seek to have the reduced settlement agreement (or any portion of it) paid by the insurer. The Law Firm did not negotiate a settlement to ensure that the

Insurance Policy would provide payment to Mr. Stieber in the amount of \$360,000.00 as he understood he was agreeing to accept to resolve his claim against Cumulus.³ Instead, despite the existence of this Policy, the Law Firm negotiated Mr. Stieber's claim down to a \$360,000.00 General Unsecured Claim to be submitted in the bankruptcy proceedings, and failed to pursue payment from the Insurance Policy in any amount. (JA012)

F. Superior Court Dismisses First Amended Complaint

Mr. Stieber filed a First Amended Complaint against the Law Firm for its alleged negligence and legal malpractice. (JA007) Following the Law Firm's Motion to Dismiss, the Superior Court determined that the First Amended Complaint failed to allege that Mr. Stieber suffered any damage proximately caused by the Law Firm that was "independent of the bankruptcy court[.]" (JA119) The Court determined that any damages alleged in the First Amended Complaint depended on a speculative legal determination by the bankruptcy court:

THE COURT: But it's all contingent on the bankruptcy court. You don't get to 350. The fact that it wasn't included, that's not on the Defendants. But you don't get to 350 - 350-plus until you go to the bankruptcy court. That's Ms. Steel's point.

. . .

THE COURT: Take it up with the Court of Appeals.

(JA125)

³ For example, if the Law Firm had negotiated a settlement figure of \$710,000.00, Mr. Stieber would have received \$360,000.00 from the insurer. *See infra*.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Superior Court erred by dismissing, with prejudice, Mr. Stieber's complaint for negligence and legal malpractice. The Court erroneously determined that, as a matter of law, Mr. Stieber could not establish that he suffered any damages as a result of the Law Firm's alleged negligence since, to do so, would require a jury to speculate about what might have happened in bankruptcy court. (JA123) This was error.

In reaching this result, the Superior Court failed to consider that bankruptcy courts routinely allow for claims covered by insurance to proceed against bankrupt-insureds to the extent of available insurance coverage. Moreover, the Court failed to consider the well-settled law that an insurance policy that covers a claim continues to apply to that claim even if a bankrupt insured is not able to pay its SIR under the policy. The Court further erred by misinterpreting *Pietrangelo v. Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale & Dorr*, 68 A.3d 697 (D.C. 2013) and *Chase v. Gilbert*, 499 A.2d 1203 (D.C. 1985) as precluding any legal malpractice claim where the damages sought by the plaintiff have not already been established in a legal proceeding.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews the trial court's grant of a motion to dismiss a complaint under Rule 12(b)(6) *de novo. See Fraser v. Gottfried*, 636 A.2d 430, 432, n.5 (D.C. 1994) (quoting *Johnson-El v. District of Columbia*, 579 A.2d 163, 166 (D.C. 1990)). That is, this Court applies the same standard as the trial court; it accepts the allegations of the complaint as true and construes all facts and inferences in favor of the plaintiff. *Atkins v. Industrial Telecommunications Ass'n.*, 660 A.2d 885, 887 (D.C. 1995).

The Court must determine (1) whether the pleading includes well-pleaded factual allegations, and (2) whether such allegations plausibly give rise to an entitlement for relief. See Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 1949-52 (2009); see also Mazza v. House Craft, LLC, 18 A.3d 786, 790 (D.C. 2011) (adopting Iqbal's heightened pleading standard); see also Potomac Dev. Corp. v. District of Columbia, 28 A.3d 531, 543 (D.C. 2011) (adopting the Supreme Court's plausibility standard for a complaint to survive a motion to dismiss). The pleading need not include "detailed factual allegations," but must include "more than an unadorned, the defendant-unlawfully-harmed-me accusation." Mazza, 18 A.3d at 790. The allegations must be sufficient "to raise a right to relief above the speculative level[.]" Clampitt v. Am. Univ., 957 A.2d 23, 29 (D.C. 2008).

Dismissal is warranted where the complaint "fails to allege the elements of a legally viable claim." *Chamberlain v. American Honda Fin. Corp.*, 931 A.2d 1018, 1023 (D.C. 2007).

Under the *Twombly/Iqbal* standard, "'the lack of detail in the complaint is not a basis for dismissing a claim for damages at [an] early state of the litigation[,] as plaintiffs are under no obligation to plead damages with particularity." *Silberberg v. Becker*, 191 A.3d 324, 338-39 (D.C. 2018) (quoting *Democracy Partners v. Project Veritas Action Fund*, 285 F.Supp.3d 109, 126 (D.D.C. 2018). Although a plaintiff must prove actual damages and proximate cause to recover on a claim, it is error to dismiss a plaintiff's claim at the initial pleading stage for failure to specify precisely how he was damaged by the breach of duty. *See Silberberg, supra*. Indeed, if a defendant wants to test the ability of a plaintiff to prove damages, it must present a motion for summary judgment or proceed to trial. *In re Curseen*, 890 A.2d 191, 194 (D.C. 2006). A motion to dismiss is not intended to test the evidence available to prove damages.

In this case, the First Amended Complaint was dismissed because the Court found that, as a matter of law, Mr. Stieber could not establish that any damages were proximately caused by the above-outlined breaches of duty. Specifically, the Court determined that any pathway to Mr. Stieber's recovery of damages required approval from the Bankruptcy Court and, therefore, as a matter of law any claimed

damages were too speculative. As shown herein, this was error. The alleged injury suffered by Mr. Stieber was not so speculative that, as a matter of law, it could not be established.

B. Mr. Stieber Stated a Claim for Legal Malpractice

Claims for negligence and legal malpractice require a showing of (1) the applicable standard of care; (2) a breach of the standard of care; and (3) a causal relationship between the violation and the harm complained of. *See Biomet, Inc. v. Finnegan Henderson, LLP*, 967 A.2d 662, 664-65 (D.C. 2009) (citing *O'Neil v. Bergan*, 452 A.2d 337, 341 (D.C. 1982)). With respect to the third element, a plaintiff must establish that he would have "fared better" in the absence of the attorney's negligence. *Chase v. Gilbert*, 499 A.2d 1203, 1212 (D.C. 1985). In this case, the Superior Court erred by determining that, as a matter of law, Mr. Stieber could not establish that he would have "fared better" in the absence of the Law Firm's negligence.

The First Amended Complaint alleges includes at least three different categories of alleged breaches of duty: failure to timely respond in any way to Cumulus's declaration of bankruptcy (FAC 17-22; 25; 36) (JA010-12); failure to investigate, obtain, or pursue Cumulus's applicable insurance coverage (FAC 23-24; 26-29; 37) (JA011-13); and failure to inform Mr. Stieber that he was settling

his claim against Cumulus for less than \$360,000 (FAC 38-42) (JA013). Specifically, Plaintiff identified eleven separate breaches of the duty of care:

- Failing to take any action in response to being notified of the existence of the Cumulus bankruptcy proceedings;
- Failing to advise Plaintiff to file a Proof of Claim or to assist Plaintiff in filing a Proof of Claim;
- Failing to advise DCOHR that Cumulus had filed for bankruptcy;
- Failing to read or understand the Plan;
- Failing to pursue any policy of EPLI or other insurance carried by Cumulus;
- Failing to discover, understand, acknowledge, or pursue that insurance coverage then and there in effect from Chubb;
- Failing to take action in the bankruptcy Court to release Plaintiff from any stay so as to pursue Chubb's available policy;
- Failing to negotiate in a manner which considered Chubb's Claim retainer amount, in conjunction with Cumulus' bankruptcy status;
- Failing to take action in the bankruptcy proceedings to protect the \$1,160,000.00 value of the claim;
- Failing to advise Plaintiff that he was comprising the value of his claim for substantially less than \$360,000.00 by accepting the settlement reached in conciliation; and
- Failing to understand the plain terms of the Plan, which reduced the actual cash payout to Plaintiff to \$12,000.00, or 1% of the total value;

(JA015-16) In his First Amended Complaint, Mr. Stieber alleged that, but for the above-described negligence, he would have "fared better," that is, he would have recovered more than a mere \$12,000 for his claim against the Law Firm. The Law Firm's negligence resulted in Mr. Stieber settling his wrongful termination and

discrimination claim against Cumulus for far less than it was worth. In the First Amended Complaint, Mr. Stieber specifically alleged that the above violations caused damage:

[A]s a direct and proximate result of Defendants' negligence and malpractice, Plaintiff has suffered, and continues to suffer, harm and damages, including, but not limited to, the reduction of the value of his action against Cumulus by more than One Million Dollars as described above.

(JA016)

1. <u>First Amended Complaint alleged facts to show that Mr. Stieber would have fared better but for the Law Firm's negligence.</u>

The <u>determination</u> of whether Mr. Stieber would have "fared better" but for the Law Firm's negligence was not presented to the Court; what was before the Court was whether he stated facts that could plausibly support his claim that he would have "fared better" but for the Law Firm's negligence. As shown herein, he plainly did.

It is true that one way to determine the third element of a legal malpractice claim is to apply the "case within a case" doctrine, *i.e.*, would the plaintiff have prevailed in the underlying litigation in the absence of the attorney's alleged breach. *Steele v. Salb*, 93 A.3d 1277, 1281 (D.C. 2014). Here, Mr. Stieber's claim did not depend on whether he could prevail in his discrimination claim against Cumulus; it depends on whether he can show that he would have received more to

settle his claim in the absence of the Law Firm's negligence. In his First Amended Complaint, Mr. Stieber alleged that the parties agreed the value of his claim was \$1,160,000.00 and that they further agreed to settle that claim for \$360,000.00 in cash. The "case within the case" analysis therefore required Mr. Stieber to show that but for the Law Firm's negligence, he would have recovered more than what he actually did, \$12,000.00 in Cumulus stock. Mr. Stieber's First Amended Complaint included facts sufficient to show this proximate cause, such that the claim should be submitted to a fact finder to resolve.

2. <u>Legal Malpractice claim is not precluded because it arises out of a settlement.</u>

Moreover, simply because the negligence in this case arose at the settlement stage of the litigation does not mean that, as a matter of law, the so-called "judgment rule" applies to preclude liability for the Law Firm's conduct. *See Crawford v. Katz*, 32 A.3d 418 (D.C. 2011) (alleged legal malpractice arising out of efforts to negotiate severance package, and prosecution and settlement of wrongful termination lawsuit); *Seed Co., Ltd. v, Westerman* 840 F.Supp.2d 116, 127 (D.D.C. 2012) (denying summary judgment in favor of defendants on plaintiffs' claim that they refused a settlement offer based on the defendants' advice); *and Jones v. Lattimer*, 29 F.Supp.3d 5 (D.C.C. 2014) (denying motion to dismiss claim for legal malpractice arising out of defendant's alleged failure to advise plaintiff to accept settlement offers). The claim at issue is not simply that

the Law Firm provided Mr. Stieber with negligent advice regarding the settlement of his claims with Cumulus; it is that the Law Firm failed to understand the settlement agreement and failed to have the settlement satisfied through the Cumulus Insurance Policy.

C. <u>Bankruptcy Courts Routinely Allow Claims Against Bankrupt-Insureds to Proceed to the Extent of Available Insurance Coverage.</u>

The trial court held that any finding of damages in this case could only be based on speculation. However, a fact-finder would not be required to <u>speculate</u> as to whether Mr. Stieber's claim could have proceeded against Cumulus to the extent of the applicable insurance coverage.

It is well established that "[w]hen the bankrupt debtor is also the defendant in a suit for damages, and has coverage under an applicable insurance policy, the bankruptcy court will typically grant a limited lift of stay for the purpose of releasing the insurance proceeds to the injured plaintiff." Moreover, "[w]hen the bankruptcy proceeding concludes and the bankrupt debtor is discharged of his prepetition debt, the automatic stay erected under Section 362 (Bankruptcy Code) is replaced with a permanent injunction arising under Section 542(a), 'which prohibits any attempt to hold the debtor liable on discharged debts." *Plitt*, n.4.

14

⁴ Steven Plitt and Aeryn Heidemann, <u>Understanding Federal Bankruptcy Court Stays and How to Reach Available Insurance Coverage of the Bankruptcy Debtor Procedurally</u>, 29 No. 21 <u>Ins. Lit. Rep.</u> 821 (December 15, 2007).

This injunction does not, however, "affect the enforceability of any non-debtor liability for pre-petition debt. Rather, Section 524(e) permits a creditor to seek recovery from 'any other entity' that may be liable on behalf of the debtor." (internal citations omitted). *Plitt*, n.4.

Courts across the country, including in New York, where Cumulus's bankruptcy proceeding was pending, interpret Section 524(e) of the Bankruptcy Code "to permit recovery from a debtor's insurer." Id. See also In re Traylor, 94 B.R. 292 (Bankr.E.D. N.Y. 1989) (granting creditor's motion for leave to continue pending action against debtor's insurance company); Lebron v. St. Vincent Medical Center, 21 Misc.3d 1147(A), 875 N.Y.S.2d 821 (Table) (Sup. Ct. Bronx Cnty., N.Y. Dec. 17, 2008) (noting that "while 11 U.S.C. 524(a) serves to bar any actions where the debtor bears personal liability attaching to his assets, 11 U.S.C. 524(e) does not preclude liability against the debtor provided that any damages stemming therefrom would be paid by another, such as a surety or insurance company" and "New York State law also hold that a bankruptcy discharge does not bar a pending law suit where the defendant has liability coverage for the events forming the basis of the lawsuit").

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