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

far too tenuous to survive. *See*, *e.g.*, *Macktal*, 111 F. Supp. 2d at 22. Dismissal was therefore proper for this reason alone.

C. <u>Any Allegation That Stieber Would Have Recovered More Is</u> <u>Compound Speculation In View Of The Cumulus Bankruptcy.</u>

Adding further speculation to an otherwise conjectural claim is that any hypothetically greater settlement would still have required approval by the Cumulus Trustee and the bankruptcy judge under Fed. R. Bankr. P. 9019 as being in the best interests of the estate. Protective Comm. for Indep. Stockholders of TMT Trailer Ferry, Inc. v. Anderson, 390 U.S. 414, 424-25 (1968) (bankruptcy court must determine that a settlement is fair, equitable, and in the best interests of the estate); In re WorldCom, Inc., 347 B.R. 123, 137 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2006) ("The Court must make an informed judgment whether the settlement is fair and equitable and in the best interests of the estate."); In re Hibbard Brown & Co., Inc., 217 B.R. 41, 46 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1998) (recognizing bankruptcy court's discretion to approve or deny a settlement). Leaving aside that Stieber's pleadings do not allege that the Cumulus Trustee and the court would have approved any additional terms, JA 007-017, FAC passim, such compound speculation is insufficient as a matter of law.

This court has made clear that legal malpractice cases should be dismissed where proximate cause is lacking or speculative on the face of the pleadings. *Pietrangelo*, 68 A.3d at 709-10, 712-13. In *Pietrangelo*, dismissal on an initial Rule

12(b)(6) motion was held proper where legal malpractice allegations of the "but for" outcome of the underlying case were predicated upon "mere speculation." *Id.* at 709-10. There, the speculative causation theory was that the Supreme Court would have granted *certiorari*, found in plaintiff's favor on the merits, remanded the case, and the district court would have issued an order granting plaintiff's reinstatement or striking down federal legislation regulating treatment of gays in the military. *Id.* As the *Pietrangelo* Court stated:

[Plaintiff's] allegation that the federal district court, the United States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit, or the United States Superior Court would have struck down [the "Don't Ask Don't Tell statute] if [the lawyers] had advanced [certain additional] claims is purely speculative. Accordingly, we affirm the dismissal of [the legal malpractice claim].

Pietrangelo, 68 A.3d at 712-13 (citations omitted)

The court confirmed this basic principle in affirming the dismissal of a related claim for breach of fiduciary duty. *Id.* at 710 ("We have declined to find proximate cause where we would have to speculate about a legal result. Such compound speculation is insufficient as a matter of law") (citations omitted).

Other speculative legal malpractice causation theories have likewise been found inadequate. *See Herbin*, 806 A.2d at 196 (finding too conclusory allegations that, but for lawyer's conduct, a search warrant would not have been issued and without evidence seized during the search, former client would not have been

charged and/or have been acquitted in criminal trial); Chase, 499 A.2d at 1211-12 (allegations of what law firm might have done and what the result would have been had the attorneys made a report or appealed FCC's initial decision involves the kind of speculation that cannot support theory that negligence caused former client to be disqualified for radio station license). See also Taylor v. Law Office of Galiher, Clarke & Galiher, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 116568, *14-15 (D.D.C. Sept. 1, 2015) (Rule 12(b)(6) motion granted where legal malpractice complaint did not allege causal nexus between lawyers' conduct at evidentiary hearing and loss of plaintiff's workers' compensation case and where former client neither identified the evidence that would have presented nor how this evidence would have been relevant or dispositive); Rocha v. Brown & Gould, LLP, 101 F. Supp. 3d 52, 77-78 (D.D.C. 2015) (where plaintiff alleged that the outcome of her case would have been different had it been filed in Maryland, the district court agreed that "it is at best an issue of pure guess-work requiring the impermissible use of both hindsight and speculation as to different legal results a court might reach."); United States Telesis, Inc. v. Ende, 64 F. Supp. 3d 65, 67-69 (D.D.C. 2014) (legal malpractice suit dismissed as speculative because former client did not plausibly allege that it would have achieved a different result in the underlying case since its damages claim was foreclosed by liability limitations clause in contract at issue); Bigelow v. Knight, 737 F. Supp. 669, 671 (D.D.C. 1990) (failure of lawyer to locate and interview witnesses

insufficient to establish causation without allegations of what witnesses would have testified to and how they would have supported a defense resulting in plaintiff's acquittal).

Similarly, here, the allegations of causation are pure conjecture and compound speculation. Stieber would have to make multiple impossible showings to establish that he would have 'fared better' in the underlying employment claim: first, as discussed supra, his former (bankrupt) employer would have offered more and/or been willing to pay money rather than stock in the reorganized company; second, Cumulus' bankruptcy trustee would have agreed to a greater settlement amount; third, the bankruptcy judge would have approved/allowed such a hypothetical settlement (contrary to the interests of Cumulus' other creditors); *fourth*, Stieber's bankrupt former employer had the financial resources to actually pay more or that the stock in the reorganized company would have been worth more; and fifth, a hypothetical increased settlement amount would have been collectible, i.e., there were assets available to satisfy a greater settlement even if one could have been obtained. Under *Pietrangelo*, such multiple hurdles render any causation theory wholly speculative, in large measure because Cumulus was bankrupt and had insufficient assets to cover its pre-existing liabilities.

This final factor is the 'death knell' to this legal malpractice claim as a hypothetical greater monetary settlement would have been uncollectable by virtue

of Cumulus's bankruptcy. Non-collectability is an insurmountable legal obstacle to Stieber's malpractice claim against the defendants, who could *not* have secured a better result regardless because Cumulus had no assets to satisfy any such hypothetical greater settlement (or judgment).

This principle is well-established by other courts that have considered the issue. See, e.g., McGillewie v. Parker, Poe, Adams & Bernstein, P.A., 1996 U.S. App. LEXIS 20571 (4th Cir. August 16, 1996) (because judgment obtained by attorneys was not collectible, summary judgment was properly granted in legal malpractice action); Bankruptcy Estate of Rampy v. Messerli, 224 B.R. 701, 706 (Bankr. D. Minn. 1997) (rejecting, as speculative, legal malpractice claim that former client would have been more successful in collecting a settlement against company that had been shut down and no longer had significant assets); LeHouillier v. Gallegos, 434 P.3d 156, 162 (Colo. 2019) (where judgment was uncollectible due to insufficient assets or bankruptcy, the lost value of the judgment is not the proximate result of an attorney's negligence); Selimanovic v. Finney, 337 S.W.3d 30, 41 (Mo. Ct. App. 2011) (JNOV proper where lawyers failed to file wrongful death action against putative defendants who had no income, assets, or insurance coverage to satisfy a judgment had the case been filed); Bogart v. Gutmann, 115 N.E.3d 711, 718 (Ohio App. 2018) (underlying claim was uncollectable and therefore plaintiff could not prove causation in legal malpractice case); Schmidt v.

Coogan, 335 P.3d 424, 428 (Wash. 2014) ("If the underlying judgment was uncollectible, for example, due to insufficient assets or bankruptcy, the lost value of the judgment is not the proximate result of an attorney's negligence. The client could not have collected the judgment even if the attorney used reasonable care.").

Any claim that Stieber could have recovered more from Cumulus is pure guess-work based on multiple hypothetical outcomes and compound speculation, which does not cross the legally required "line . . . to plausible." *Ashcroft v. Iqbal*, 556 U.S. 662, 682 (2009). Even if the Firm handled the underlying employment claim differently or given different advice, Stieber would still not have recovered more from a bankrupt Cumulus. This court's holding in *Pietrangelo* forecloses a plausible allegation of proximate cause where it is necessary to speculate about an alternative result, 68 A.3d at 710, 712-13, which is precisely what Stieber urges here.

As appellant implicitly acknowledges, a hypothetically different outcome would have necessitated the undertaking of several additional steps to obtain bankruptcy court approval, *see* Pl. Brief at pp. 3-4 – i.e., appearing at a meeting of creditors, objecting to Cumulus' Reorganization Plan, initiating an adversary proceeding, and moving to lift the bankruptcy stay – all of which require this court to speculate about what a bankruptcy judge would have ruled had such multiple endeavors and motions been undertaken. This is precisely the type of "purely speculative" and "compound speculation about a legal result," *Pietrangelo supra*,

which cannot sustain 'but for' causation.

For this precise reason, the Second Circuit affirmed the 12(b)(6) dismissal of a legal malpractice case brought by another Cumulus creditor against its attorneys on the theory that a hypothetical objection to the Chapter 11 Reorganization Plan would have been successful. In *WGH Communs. Inc. v. Penachio Malara LLP*, 2022 U.S. App. LEXIS 5097, *5-6, 2022 WL 569665 (2d Cir. Feb. 25, 2022), the court rejected as "baseless speculation" a claim that, had the law firm done something differently in the bankruptcy proceedings (i.e., timely filed objections or appeared at a plan restructuring hearing), plaintiff would have received more in its Proof of Claim. The same rationale applies here.

Judge Ross properly concluded that, based on the facts alleged, Stieber did not satisfy even a minimum pleading requirement to meet the proximate cause threshold. There is no plausible allegation, let alone one with adequate factual support, that plaintiff would have recovered more or 'fared better' in the underlying case-within-the case, as D.C. law requires.

D. <u>Any Allegation Of Available Excess Insurance Is Also Speculative.</u>

Any argument that Cumulus had insurance through Chubb is also wholly speculative in view of the explicit allegations in the pleadings both that the policy in question was subject to a \$350,000 self-insured retention and that Cumulus was in

bankruptcy. JA 010-011, FAC at ¶¶ 17, 26. The mere existence of an insurance policy does not cure plaintiff's causation problem, as Stieber erroneously believes.

The proffered policy was concededly subject to a \$350,000 self-insured retention, *id.* at ¶ 26, the primary layer of insurance. Thus, by definition, Cumulus was *self-insured* for the first \$350,000 of loss and, because of its bankruptcy, did not have the ability to exhaust its primary layer of insurance. For the Chubb excess policy to be triggered, the underlying limits had to be exhausted such that Cumulus would have had to have paid the first \$350,000 of any settlement with Stieber, which the company simply could not do. Presumably, for this reason, Stieber never says, *id.*, *passim*, nor can he plausibly allege, that a bankrupt Cumulus would have been able to satisfy/pay such a huge SIR – the first layer of primary insurance – a required pre-condition to trigger Chubb's excess coverage.

Under basic insurance law principles, an insurer's responsibilities arise only after the self-insured retention amount specified in the policy (also called an "attachment point") has been satisfied. SIRs are considered by the courts to be equivalent to primary liability insurance, and policies subject to self-insured retentions are deemed to be excess insurance, such that no duty on the part of the carrier to defend or to indemnify arises until the retention is exhausted, i.e. paid by the policyholder. *See Eli Lilly & Co. v. Home Ins. Co.*, 653 F. Supp. 1, 11 n.10 (D.D.C. 1984) (with an SIR, "... insurance begins after an initial level of loss

or liability for which [the policyholder] is self-insured. This self-insured amount is generally referred to as a self-insured retention or SIR. Above the SIR amount is an initial layer of insurance which insures [] against losses in excess of the SIR up to the policies stated limit of liability.").

This principle is well-established. See, e.g., State Indus. v. Twin City Fire Ins. Co., 158 Fed. App'x. 694, 697 (6th Cir. Dec. 14, 2005) ("[i]nsureds with a selfinsurance retention . . . are their own primary carriers."); Pacific Employers Ins. v. Domino's Pizza, 144 F.3d 1270, 1276-77 (9th Cir. 1998) ("It is well-recognized that self-insurance retentions are the equivalent to primary liability insurance, and that policies which are subject to self-insured retentions are 'excess policies' which have no duty to indemnify until the self-insured retention is exhausted."); City of Phoenix v. First State Ins. Co., 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 119024, *20, 2016 WL 4591906 (D. Ariz. Sept. 2, 2016) (quoting Pacific Employers Ins., supra); General Star Nat'l Ins. Corp. v. World Oil Co., 973 F. Supp. 943, 948-949 (C.D. Ca. 1997) (an SIR is a specific amount of loss that is not covered by the policy but instead must be borne by the insured); 2 Barry R. Ostrager & Thomas R. Newman, Handbook on Insurance Coverage Disputes § 13.13 at 1088 (14th ed. 2008) ("self-insured retention" is "the dollar amount of a loss that is retained by the policyholder and not covered by the excess insurance"); Allan D. Windt, 3 Insurance Claims and Disputes § 11:31 (6th ed. 2013).

The practical effect of Cumulus' large self-insured retention further forecloses causation in this legal malpractice case. The requirement – that Cumulus exhaust its self-insured retention before the policy's coverage took effect – effectively left Stieber's former employer uninsured for the first \$350,000 in loss related to the underlying employment claim. *See In re Tailored Brands, Inc.*, 2021 Bankr. LEXIS 1375, *14-15 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. May 20, 2021) (SIR effectively left debtor uninsured for the first \$500,000 in relation to employment claim); *In re CJ Holding Co.*, 2018 Bankr. LEXIS 2437, 2018 WL 3965225, at *2 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. Aug. 15, 2018) (noting "that there was effectively no primary insurance as the Debtor had a large self-insured retention.").

It is wholly implausible to suggest that an insolvent Cumulus could satisfy its large SIR (well in excess of a quarter of a million dollars). Based on the pleadings, bankruptcy precluded Cumulus from exhausting its self-insured retention – and there was no excess insurance available – such that Stieber could not, and would not, have obtained more money regardless of how the Firm handled the representation. *See Young v. Hammer, Hewitt, Jacobs & Floch, PLLC*, 491 P.3d 725, 732 (Mont. 2021) (summary judgment affirmed in legal malpractice claim where lawyer's failure to submit timely insurance claim did not proximately cause injury because there was no coverage under the policy for former clients' injuries).

There is no non-conjectural causation theory that Cumulus could have satisfied its SIR in view of its bankruptcy and, with no remotely plausible allegation of insurance coverage, dismissal was proper.

II. STIEBER HAS WAIVED ANY ARGUMENT NOT RAISED IN THE TRIAL COURT.

For the first time on appeal, Stieber raises an argument suggesting that Cumulus's bankruptcy did not relieve Chubb of the obligation to pay claims and that the insurance policy continued to apply even though Cumulus, as the debtor, was unable to pay its SIR under the policy. Pl. Brief at pp. 14-22. Appellant devotes more than seven pages of his opening Brief to a general discussion of the bankruptcy code and a self-serving selection of New York and Illinois cases that, while might allow liability claims to proceed against a debtor's insurer, neither create coverage obligations on the part of Chubb nor excuse Cumulus' non-compliance with the preconditions imposed for coverage under the policy, such as paying its SIR.

However, because Stieber did not present this argument to the trial court, *see* JA 043-054, 062-128, he has waived the right to raise any such claim on appeal. *See Hackney v. Chamblee*, 980 A.2d 427, 430 (D.C. 2009); *Wallace v. Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP*, 799 A.2d 381, 388 (D.C. 2002).

III. STIEBER'S NEW ARGUMENT DOES NOT CURE THE DEFECTS IN HIS FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT.

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